1980

# Neve-Welch Enterprises, Inc. v. United Bank : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent sued Appellant for stopping payment on a cashier's  
check issued to Respondent by Appellant.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This matter was tried before the Honorable James S. Sawaya,  
without a Jury on February 4, 1980. The Court found in favor of  
Respondent and after amendments thereto the final Judgment,  
Conclusions of Law, and Findings of Fact were signed April 9,

1980.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the Judgment and a determination that as a matter of law, a bank under certain circumstances, may stop payment on its cashier's check. Respondent has cross appealed the trial court's refusal to grant damages.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tri-Power Electronics, hereafter Tri-Power began a liquidation sale on or about April 17, 1979 which was to run through April 22, 1979. Neve-Welch (hereafter Respondent) attempting to take advantage of the situation created by Tri-Power's financial difficulties arranged to sell its own merchandise at Tri-Power's liquidation sale on Saturday and Sunday, April 21 & 22nd. (T.6, line 23). There was no segregation of merchandise (T.9, lines 1 seq) and the proceeds from the sale of Respondent's merchandise, were co-mingled with those of Tri-Power's (T.9-13).

On Sunday night, April 22, 1979, Respondent's President, George Welch told Lee Klein, President of Tri-Power, what amount Tri-Power owed them for Respondent's merchandise sold at the sale. (T.11, lines 28-30). Lee Klein told Welch to write up an accounting and that payment by cashier's would be coming the following morning (T.12, lines 4-7).



On Monday morning, April 23, 1979, George Welch, appeared at Tri-Power for payment. Lee Klein telephoned United Bank, hereafter Appellant, and spoke with Loren Urry, Senior Vice-President of Appellant and asked Urry to issue a cashier's check to Welch (T.14,15,16,51,52).

George Welch testified that he was unaware of what was said by the bank officer over the phone (T.15, lines 4-5). Lee Klein testified that he told Mr. Urry that a sizeable deposit would be made that morning (T.52, lines 6-11). The apparent reason for this assurance was that the Tri-Power account at the bank was in overdraft at the close of business on April 20, Friday, and at the opening of business on Monday the 23rd in the amount of \$5,778.58 (T.89-92). Lee Klein testified that he thought there was a balance in the account when he spoke to Mr. Urry (T.52, lines 16-18). He also testified that he thought there had been a deposit made on Saturday but that he had not made such deposit (T.52, lines 24-25 and T.53, lines 3-8). In any event, Lee Klein gave no check or other instrument to George Welch to present to Appellant to exchange for the cashier's check (T.45-46).

On the morning of April 23, 1979, shortly after the aforementioned telephone conversation between Mr. Urry and Mr. Klein, George Welch picked up the cashier's check from Appellant and gave nothing for its issuance. The cashier's check was issued on the oral assurances of Lee Klein that the deposits would be made. An involuntary petition in bankruptcy was filed the morning of April 23, 1979 against Tri-Power and its assets seized including



deposits prepared for deposit to Appellant (T.74, lines 1-7, T.76, lines 23,24).

There is some confusion as to whether or not some deposits were actually made. Evidence was presented over the strenuous objection of plaintiff's counsel that a number of checks which went to make up the alleged deposit were not paid. (T.77 and Exhibit D-17). At the close of business on Monday, April 23, 1979, Tri-Power's account was overdrawn in the amount of \$9,518.20. At the close of business on April 30, 1979, Tri-Power's account was in overdraft in the amount of \$48,530.40 (T.92 and 93).

On April 25, 1979, Appellant stopped payment on its cashier's check (T.18, lines 26-30 and T.19, lines 1-20, and Exhibit P-2) based on a failure of consideration.

Respondent commenced action against Appellant on the theory that a bank may not stop payment on a cashier's check and is strictly liable thereon and for damages to its business and reputation. The trial Court found in favor of the Respondent for the face amount of the check only, plus interest. The additional damages sought for the lost profits and damages to reputation were denied.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

UNITED BANK HAS A RIGHT TO STOP PAYMENT ON  
ITS CASHIER'S CHECK WHEN IT IS ISSUED WITHOUT  
CONSIDERATION

The major issue in this case is whether or not a bank is strictly liable on a cashier's check or whether it can stop payment under certain circumstances, including failure of consideration.

The Respondent contends that a bank is strictly liable once it issued a cashier's check regardless of the underlying transactions. The following excerpts from the trial transcript are illustrative. At T.72 beginning on line 4, the following exchange took place:

MR. OLSEN: We will offer Exhibit 20-D, Your Honor.

MR. G. WALL: We will object to this as lack of relevancy and materiality. Whatever negotiations or procedures they may commonly have between themselves and Tri-Power, I don't think are relevant as to what procedures were used when Mr. Welch picked up the check. This is a transaction between Mr. Welch and the bank, and they are issuing that to him and it is not drawn at his request or on his account.

I, therefore, don't think it is relevant on that basis.

THE COURT: What do you claim for it, Mr. Olsen?

MR. OLSEN: Only that it's the instrument by which the cashier's check was issued.

THE COURT: I am not sure I understand what issue bears on--as far as this trial is concerned.

MR. OLSEN: It bears on the issue of why the cashier's check was issued by telephone, rather than some instrument having been brought in.

THE COURT: It may be admitted for whatever probative value it may have. I am not quite sure I understand, but I will let it in.

At T.77 beginning on line 21 and continuing over to T. 78, the exchange continued:

MR. OLSEN: Is that a portion of the deposit, that exhibit and those two checks, of the deposit which was brought in by Mr. Klein the first thing that morning?

A. (Mr. Urry) Yes, it is.

Q. Now, were those checks in fact paid?

MR. B. WALL: I will object, Your Honor. He issued the cashier's check, if he relied upon those checks or whatever the account, his testimony is that there were funds available in the account.

THE COURT: Now, you are taking the position that he has to rely on-- If he issues the check, it's almost--

MR. B. WALL: Strict liability. That is correct, Your Honor, because it is up to him to certify that check as to whether there are funds or not, and once he cuts loose that check, he in effect certifies and represents that those funds are on deposit with that bank.

THE COURT: Well, it's not a certified check.

MR. B. WALL: But he in effect represents that the funds are available, and the only thing Mr. Welch would have had to have done was walk to their window and cashed it and they would have an obligation to honor it.

THE COURT: It is a pity for Mr. Welch. He didn't know--

MR. B. WALL: Yes, but I think the law requires that same degree of responsibility.

Finally, at T.89, counsel for Respondent again objected as follows:

MR. B. WALL: "If Your Honor please, at this time, I would like to interpose an objection to this line of questioning.

Now, the only reason I made the indication I did earlier about this very subject is the fact that the Court has entertained some conditional receipt of another exhibit. I am, you know, concerned about that. I think for the record I would like to interpose and do interpose an objection to the relevancy of this continuing exhibit or anything to do with the account from the standpoint of its balance, in taking into account our theory of the case, they issued a cashier's check and what the balance was on a given hour or date, I fail to see the materiality of it.

THE COURT: Okay, I understand your theory, Mr. Wall, and I am not sure that it is incorrect. It may be correct, but on the chance that it isn't, I am going to hear this.

MR. B. WALL: That's why I wanted to make the record on it."

This case is one of first impression in this jurisdiction and other jurisdictions seem to split on the issue. It has been held by a number of courts that a bank issuing a cashier's check may defend an action upon it on the ground that it was issued without consideration or through mistake, or that it was obtained through false representation. 10 Am.Jur. 2d, Banks §569.

In a very recent case, TPO, Inc. vs. Federal Deposit Inc. Corp., 3rd Cir. N.J., (1973), 487 F2d 131, applying the New Jersey U.C.C., the Court followed this general rule. The Court indicated that a bank was not absolutely obligated by U.C.C. §4-303 to honor its own cashier's check when presented by a payee who was not a holder in due course, and was allegedly a party to a scheme to defraud the bank, but was entitled under U.C.C. §3-306 and §3-408 to present defenses that would be available on a simple contract, including lack of consideration or fraud.

Other cases follow the above rule where the payee is not a holder in due course. Mid Central Towing Co. v. National Bank of Tulsa, 348 P.2d 327 (Oklahoma, 1960), Dakota Transfer & Storage Co. vs. Merchants National Bank, 86 N.W. 2d 639 (North Dakota, 1957).

Appellant submits that it is completely within its rights to stop payment on its cashier's check. If the position of absolute liability on the check contended for by Respondent were followed to its logical extreme, the Respondent could recover even if it had alone perpetrated the fraud on Appellant.

One of the leading cases for the proposition of absolute liability on a cashier's check is Wertz vs. Richardson, 495 S.W.2d 527 (Texas, 1973). The Court in Wertz, supra, by a four to three decision held that a cashier's check is accepted for payment when issued. The majority spoke in conclusionary terms and appeared to use circular reasoning in reaching the result it did. The Court unsuccessfully attempted to distinguish between a customer's right to stop payment on a check and the bank's right to stop payment on its cashier's check.

A cashier's check is nothing more than a check drawn by the bank the same as any other check would be drawn by an ordinary person. The only real distinction is that a bank is a depository for its own funds as well as those of other people. The type of reasoning used in the majority opinion of Wertz, supra, would force a bank to deal in cash or deposit its own money in another bank.

The dissent in the Wertz case, supra, written by Judge Walker, is well reasoned and analytical. Judge Walker begins by distinguishing those cases where a remitter or third person, purchases or acquires a cashier's check for a payee and later tries to stop payment after transfer, as opposed to the situation in this case. Here, Respondent as payee dealt directly with the Appellant and acquired the check directly from Appellant.

Respondent stressed at trial, that this was an obligation between Appellant and Respondent. Judge Walker, in the Wertz case continued:



"No one is attempting to order another person not to pay, and Respondent is not denying liability on the check because it was requested to do so or because of any claim or right asserted by another person. Respondent has repudiated its obligation to pay on the ground that it has a legal defense to liability on the check, and the question to be decided is whether the asserted defense is good. In my opinion, it is not correct to say that a bank can never legally refuse to pay one of its cashier's checks. For example, a bank from which a cashier's check has been procured by fraud would certainly be entitled to set up the fraud and defeat liability as long as the check remains in the hands of the payee who perpetrated the fraud. The text writers agree that a bank may properly refuse to pay its cashier's check to the payee on the ground of failure of consideration or fraud. 5B Michie, Banks and Banking, §521 (Supp. 1972); 7 Zollman, Banks and Banking, §§4694, 4695. 495 S.W. 2d 572 at 575." (Emphasis added)

Respondent took the cashier's check directly from Appellant. This is not a case where Respondent has transferred the check to an innocent third party. Respondent was given timely notice of the dishonor as well.

The question presented by this case is simply one of law and policy as to whether or not a bank can stop payment on its cashier's check. A bank's right to stop payment under these circumstances is supported by both the reason and policy set forth in the foregoing legal authorities.

## POINT II

RESPONDENT DOES NOT QUALIFY AS A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE AS DEFINED IN U.C.A. §70A-3-302 BECAUSE IT GAVE NO VALUE TO APPELLANT IN EXCHANGE FOR THE CASHIER'S CHECK.

U.C.A. §70A-3-302 (1953), as amended, provides:

- "(1) A holder in due course is a holder who takes the instrument
- (a) for value; and
  - (b) in good faith, and
  - (c) without notice that it is overdue or has been

dishonored or of any defense against or claim to it on the part of any person."

70A-3-303, (1953), as amended, provides:

- "A holder takes the instrument for value
- (a) to the extent that the agreed consideration has been performed or that he acquires a security interest in or a lien on the instrument otherwise than by legal process; or
  - (b) when he takes the instrument in payment of or as security for an antecedent claim against any person whether or not the claim is due; or
  - (c) when he gives a negotiable instrument for it or makes an irrevocable commitment to a third person."

Respondent's agent, George Welch testified that he received no check or negotiable instrument from Tri-Power and delivered nothing to Appellant in exchange for the cashier's check. (T.45, line 30 and T.46, lines 1-6). Therefore, under U.C.A. §70A-3-303(c), Respondent could not be a holder in due course.

With respect to U.C.A. §70A-3-303(a) official comment 3 to U.C.C. 3-303 which is identical to the above cited Section of the Utah Code provides:

- "(a) resolves an apparent conflict between the original Section 54 and first sentence of the original Section 25, by requiring that the agreed consideration shall actually have been given. An executory promise to give value is not itself value, except as provided in paragraph (c). The underlying reason of policy is that when the purchaser learns of a defense against the instrument or of a defect in the title, he is not required to enforce the instrument, but is free to rescind the transaction for breach of the transfers warranty. (§3-417). There is thus not the same necessity for giving him the status of a holder in due course, cutting off claims and defenses, as where he is actually paid value. A common illustration is the bank credit not drawn upon, which can be and is revoked when a claim or defense appears.:



Official comment 6 to the same Section goes on to state:

"Paragraph (c) is new, but states generally recognized exceptions to the rule and that an executory promise is not value. A negotiable instrument is value because it carries a possibility of a negotiation to a holder in due course, after which the party who gives it cannot refuse to pay. The same reasoning applies to any irrevocable commitment to the third person such as a letter of credit issued when an instrument is taken."

The cashier's check was issued on the oral assurances by Lee Klein that the deposits would be made (T.52, line 6). This is an executory promise and does not qualify as value. Respondent at trial argued strenuously that the contract on the cashier's check was between it and Appellant and that Tri-Power's involvement is immaterial and irrelevant (T.72, lines 10-12).

Again following Respondent's position asserted at trial, U.C.A. §70A-3-303(b) does not furnish the consideration either. If Tri-Power allegedly owes money to Respondent and Respondent argues the deposits made by Tri-Power are irrelevant, that the balance in Tri-Power's account is immaterial and finally, that this is a contract only between Respondent and Appellant, then U.C.A. §70A-3-303 (b) is of little or no help to Respondent.

Even if Respondent chooses to rely on this sub-section (b), close examination reveals its inapplicability. An example may illustrate this more clearly. A owes B money. C owes A money and gives A a check or promissory note. A can transfer the note he received from C to B in exchange for release of the antecedent debt A owes B. B in this case would qualify as a holder in due course.

In the present case, Tri-Power owed money to Neve-Welch. Tri-Power also owed money to United Bank inasmuch as its account was in overdraft status when this check was issued (T.89, lines 92-93). Appellant transferred a cashier's check to Respondent based on the oral assurances of Lee Klein. The Respondent gave neither value nor consideration to Appellant for the cashier's check. Appellant over the objections of Respondent introduced evidence that Tri-Power as well failed to give value or consideration for the cashier's check. Appellant is under no obligation to gratuitously assume the debt Tri-Power owes to the Respondent.

Appellant submits that the interpretation of the meaning of "value" in the statute is a question of law and that the trial Court erred when it determined that Respondent gave value and that good and valuable consideration had been paid by the Respondent in exchange for the cashier's check, when in fact neither Respondent nor Tri-Power ever gave any consideration for the cashier's check in question.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT RULED CORRECTLY IN REFUSING TO  
AWARD DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS, PUNITIVE DAMAGES  
AND DAMAGES FOR INJURY TO RESPONDENTS CREDIT  
REPUTATION

Respondent has chosen to cross-appeal on the following issues:

1. Failure of the District Court to award damages for lost profits to plaintiff's by virtue of defendant's failure to honor the cashier's check.

2. Failure of the District Court to award damages based on defendant's intentional, reckless and unwarranted refusal to honor the cashier's check issued by it.

3. Failure of the District Court to award damages for injury and damage to plaintiff's credit reputation."

In the amendments to the findings of facts and conclusions of law signed by Judge Sawaya on April 9th, 1980, it states, at number 2(b): "The plaintiff is not entitled damages in addition to the amount of the check and the interest thereon, the basis therefor being too speculative."

It is also a well settled legal principle that this Court will affirm the decision of the trial Court when its determination is supported by substantial evidence. Ranch Homes Inc. vs. Greater Park City Corporation, 592 P.2d 620 (Utah, 1979). This Court will not upset the trial Court's determination unless it is "clearly against the weight of the evidence". Ream vs. Fitzen, 581 P.2d 145 (Utah, 1978), Winter vs. Charles Anthony, Inc., 586 P2d 453 (Utah, 1978).

Respondent presented absolutely no evidence of Appellant's wilfulness or any malice in stopping payment of the check as is required for punitive or exemplary damages. Palombi vs. D & C Builders, 22 Utah 2d 297, 452 P.2d 325 (1969).

Damages for lost profits and to business reputation are considered too speculative to base an award of damages on. Howarth vs. Ostergaard, 30 Utah 2d 183, 515 P.2d 442 (1973).

There was substantial evidence that Respondent was in finan-

cial difficulty well before the stop payment on this check. An independent audit conducted by a national accounting firm at Appellant's request revealed an almost consistent history of operating losses which actually diminished after Appellant stopped payment on the cashier's check in question (T.105-107). In addition, funds to replace those represented by the stopped cashier's check were placed back into Respondents cash flow in less than thirty days(T.42,103, lines 13-25).

Appellant submits that the trial Court was well within its discretion in refusing to award these damages and based on the foregoing, this Court should not upset those findings.

#### CONCLUSION

Appellant was within its rights to stop payment on its cashier's check. Respondents theory of strict liability is commercially unsound and not based on practicalities.

Respondent does not qualify as a holder in due course because it did not take the instrument for value and gave Appellant nothing in exchange for the check.

Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the trial Court and determine as a matter of law that Appellant was within its rights to stop payment based on failure of consideration.