1980

Neve-Welch Enterprises, Inc., A Utah Corporation, dba Neve-Welch Furniture & Appliance v. United Bank, A Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT IS OBLIGATED TO HONOR ITS CHECK ISSUED TO RESPONDENT

In the opening paragraphs of appellant's first point of argument, they mis-state the issue. This has never been an action involving or alleging strict liability on a cashier's check. No

such finding was made by the court in its Findings, (R. 107, 134), and respondent has never made such an argument. However, as will be shown, there is generally such a strict requirement for payment imposed by the courts and the commercial code that one could almost characterize the obligation as one of strict liability. But it should be remembered that for appellant to claim that the ruling should be reversed because the court found that it was strictly ~~liability~~ is clearly fallacious and improper argument for this appeal. Such an issue is simply not present.

The appellant in its Docketing Statement sets forth several cases which it thinks disposes of the issues in this case in favor of the appellant. These cases are again set forth on page 7 of appellant's brief. However, these cases are not dispositive of the issues for the simple reason that they are not at all in point with the facts of this case.

These cases involve situations where the payee attempted to defraud the bank, or another party, and was thus not a holder in due course, with fraud being the defense. At no time in this case has there ever been the slightest bit of proof of any type of misconduct, let alone fraud, on the part of the respondent. The dealings between respondent and appellant, Tri-Power, and any other party even remotely involved have been spotless. These cases thus simply do not apply.

The appellant cites Dakota Transfer v. Merchant's National

Bank, 86 N.W.2d 639 (North Dakota, 1957), to support its proposition. However, this case, as with the others, is not in point. In that case the drawer presented a worthless check to the bank and asked for a cashier's check in return. No such thing happened in this case. Tri-Power, not plaintiff, made a deposit with United and respondent was issued a cashier's check from Tri-Power's account at the request of Tri-Power and with the full consent and knowledge of appellant.

It is generally and widely recognized, with regard to a cashier's check, that such a check is a bill of exchange drawn by a bank upon itself and is accepted in advance by the act of its issuance. It is not subject to countermand by the issuing bank. 10 Am.Jur.2d Banks, Sec. 643, p. 614; Wertz v. Richardson Heights Bank and Trust, 495 S.W. 2d. 572 (Tex.); Bank of El Paso v. Powell, (Tex) 550 S.W.2d. 383; State ex.rel Chan Siew Lai v. Powell, (Mo.), 536 S.W.2d 14; Laurel Bank & Trust Co. v. City National Bank, 365 A2d 1222 (Conn.); Bank of Niles v. American State Bank, (Ill App.) 303 N.E.2d 186; Malphrus v. Home Savings Bank, 254 NYS 2d 980.

In the Malphrus case, supra., a depositor requested the bank to issue a cashier's check to the seller of a car to the customer, which the bank did. The bank then stopped payment on the check. The Supreme Court therein stated that the bank could not stop payment on the check, despite U.C.C. 4-104(1) defining a customer to include a bank carrying on business with another bank, and despite 4-403 of

the U.C.C. providing that customer could stop payment. The court said a bank not a party to a transaction between the two parties involved could have no standing or right to stop payment. See also 18 A.L.R. 3rd 138.

Another point to be made is that "once the cashier's check is negotiated to a holder in due course, the credit and resources of the payee are no longer primarily involved; it is then a primary obligation of the bank and, upon presentment of the check for payment, the bank must honor the check." 10 Am.Jur2d, Banks, Sec. 643, p. 615. It is also now well settled that a payee may be a holder in due course. 70A-3-302, U.C.A., 1953.

Thus, once a cashier's check is negotiated to a holder in due course, the credit and resources of the purchaser are no longer primarily involved or controlling; it is then a primary obligation of the bank and upon presentment of the check for payment, the bank must honor the check. See 70A-3-418, U.C.A., 1953; 10 Am.Jur.2d. Banks, Sec. 643, p. 615; Bank of Niles v. American State Bank, supra.; State ex. rel. Chan Siew Lai v. Powell, supra.; Citizens Bank of Bonneville v. National Bank of Commerce, 334 F2d 257 (10th Cir., 1964).

In May of 1979, the respondent filed an action in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah, Central Division seeking reclamation of the funds deposited by Tri-Power for Neve-Welch at United Bank. The receiver for Tri-Power then filed a Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that Neve-Welch, the plaintiff,

had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, which the court denied. The second contention in the motion was that the issuance of the cashier's check discharged the underlying obligation.

On November 29, 1979, the Bankruptcy Court granted the motion to dismiss on this second ground, which decision we ask this Supreme Court to take judicial notice of. The memorandum decision of the Bankruptcy Court, the honorable Ralph R. Mabey presiding, is of importance here and we quote at length as follows:

A cashier's check is a bill of exchange drawn by a bank on its own funds (on itself). By assuming the dual position of drawer and drawee on the check, the bank injects into circulation an instrument which is considered as equivalent to, and a substitute for, the money it represents. Due to the confidence of the commercial world in such instruments when endorsed, such checks trade hands often and traverse many financial transactions. See Ross v. Peck Iron and Metal Co., 264 F.2d. 262 (4th Cir. 1959); Schwartz v. Twin City State Bank, 201 Kan. 539, 441 P.2d. 897 (1968).

Tri-Power authorized United Bank to issue such a check, and to make it payable to Neve-Welch. This was done to pay Neve-Welch the amount it had earned during the sale. Tri-Power could be said to have purchased the cashier's check from the bank in order to facilitate payment of the debt. By the act of issuance, United Bank assumed the status of drawer and drawee on the check, and by the act of receiving the check, Neve-Welch completed the transaction. Such a transaction is governed by UTAH CODE ANN. 70A-3-802 (1953), which states:

- (1) Unless otherwise agreed where an instrument is taken for an underlying obligation
- (a) the obligation is pro tanto discharged if the bank is drawer, maker or acceptor of the instrument, and there is no recourse on the instrument against the underlying obligor.

Thus, Neve-Welch's act of "taking" the check in recognition of the payment discharged the underlying obligation of

of Tri-Power. See Meckler v. Highland Falls Savings and Loan Ass'n., 64 Misc. 2d. 407, 314 N.Y.S. 2d. 618 (Sup. Ct. 1977); Rushkin v. Central Federal Savings and Loan Ass'n., 3 U.C. Rptg. Serv. 150 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1966); Malphrus v. Home Savings Bank, 44 Misc. 2d 705, 254 N.Y.S. 2d. 980 (Albany County Ct. 1965).

Since Tri-Power has been relieved from liability on the instrument, its credit and resources no longer are subject to the underlying obligation. Neve-Welch must now look to the issuing bank, which has the primary obligation on the check and is the guarantor of payment. See Ross v. Peck Iron and Metal Co., *supra.*; Meckler v. Highland Falls Savings and Loan Ass'n., *supra.*; Allison v. First National Bank of Albuquerque, 85 N.M. 283, 511 P2d 769, (N.M. App. 1973).

The second ground of defendant's motion is well taken. The cashier's check discharged the debt between Tri-Power and Neve-Welch in the stated amount and the motion to dismiss should be granted.

It is clear from this opinion, and the cases cited therein, that appellant took upon itself the obligation in exchange for the business and deposits of Tri-Power. If appellant failed to take the necessary precautions, an innocent third party should not bear the burden when it has relied on the issuance of the check.

The attitude and thinking of the appellant is evident in an interesting exchange that occurred during the course of the trial (BEGINNING AT PAGE 74 of the Transcript, line 14):

A. (Mr. Urry) Mr. Larner, one of the principals of the corporation, was at my desk and wanted to have us issue another cashier's check, and I said there wasn't sufficient funds, so I called down to Tri-Power to get in touch with Mr. Klein. He was not in and so I talked with a Mr. George Speciale, who was the attorney for Tri-Power, to confirm that those funds would be coming down to our bank.

Q. When did you become aware of the bankruptcy of Tri-Power?

MR. B. WALL: I object. I fail to see the relevancy. I don't think that has any bearing on these issues.

THE COURT: I am having a little trouble myself, Mr. Olsen. I suppose that the issue here is the contractual relationship between the bank and Mr. Welch, isn't it?

MR. OLSEN: No, I don't believe there is any contractual relationship between the bank and Mr. Welch. What we're---

THE COURT: If a bank gives me a cashier's check, isn't there at least an implied contractual relationship?

MR. OLSEN: Well, I think that is the gist of our case, that the cashier's check was issued without consideration and by mistake, and what we're saying is that Tri-Power was about to go under, that everybody down there knew it was going to go under, that there was a mad scramble to shift that loss off onto somebody else, and that the bank was the last to find out about it, and thus they were the ones who were left holding the sack.

THE COURT: Doesn't the bank have an obligation only to issue funds pursuant to what's on deposit in somebody's account?

I mean, if Mr. Urry got a call--I hate to argue in advance of the evidence--but it seems to me if Mr. Urry gets a call from Mr. Klein, saying "Issue a \$20,000 cashier's check and give it to Mr. Welch and charge our account with it", the first thing he would do is go to the account and make sure there are funds there to cover that; isn't that --

MR. OLSEN: That is correct.

THE COURT: Then if he determines there are funds there, issues the check. Shouldn't he charge that account for that amount of money--

MR. OLSEN: Issued, but if there are no funds and then he says, "We will need further inquiry" and it's represented to him that the funds will be brought in, and on the strength of that, he issues the cashier's check when in fact the bankruptcy was imminent. Everyone knew it was imminent except him. That's what we are getting at.

THE COURT: Well, my question--the question in my mind is whether or not there is either a contractual or statutory obligation and duty on the part of the bank to make sure that there are funds to cover the cashier's check when it is issued. I don't know whether there is or not.

As we have amply set forth above, virtually all of the case cited state that the issuance of a cashier's check establishes a contractual relationship between the bank and the payee, which is somewhat analagous to a relationship on a promissory note.

What Mr. Olsen is arguing is that unilateral mistake was present and the bank should be relieved of payment. This is not the law. "A mistake of only one of the parties to a contract in the expression of his agreement or as to the subject matter does not affect its binding force, and ordinarily affords no ground for its avoidance, or for relief, even in equity." 17 C.J.S. Contracts Sec. 143, pp. 888-889. Thus, where one party to a contract has made a mistake, but such mistake is not known to the other party to the contract, it is not invalidated. Russell & Pugh Lumber Co. v. U.S., 290 F2d 938; Heifetz Metal Drafts, Inc., v. Peter Kiewit Sons' Co., 264 F2d. 435.

From the excerpt above it is clear that appellant is characterizing the situation as one having a condition at the time of the issuance of the check where Mr. Olsen stated "We will need further inquiry", which characterization is totally incorrect. As can be seen from the record there was never any condition to the issuance of the check, especially between the bank and Mr. Welch. Mr. Urry himself stated that when Mr. Welch came in he told him nothing of the condition of the account nor did he give him any reason that the check would not be honored. (Tr. 83, lines 23-28).

While on this general point of argument, we should look at the accounting procedures of the bank. The appellant called Mrs. Nealley, head bookkeeper for the appellant bank. Several points in her testimony are quite interesting. First, she was unable to show or state that the bank had a record of the cashier's check in the documents with her in court that day. There was no record of Tri-Power's account having been charged with the check, nor was there any record of a stop payment or the effect that had on the account. (Tr. 94)

Second, she could not show what the running balance of the account was from late Friday until the close of business on the following Monday, the 23rd. (Tr. 96). She could not tell the court what the hourly balance of the account was between Friday and Monday afternoon. Thus, considering the testimony of the respondent's agents and Mr. Klein it is entirely possible and probable that at the time the check was issued to Mr. Welch that there were in fact sufficient funds in the account to cover the check. This is of great importance because the appellant has argued repeatedly that there were insufficient funds, if that has any relevancy, but according to their own bookkeeper the bank was unable to actually show what the account balance was at the time the check was issued. It would therefore appear that if in fact Mr. Urry was relying on a balance figure when he issued the check, which is questionable, he was relying on figures that were over two days old, and he was

working from knowledge he had obtained the previous week, Mr. Urry having been out of the bank for a number of days prior to Monday.

The foregoing authorities and arguments clearly support an affirmation of the judgment. The authorities are clear that a bank may not countermand its check, except in some very limited situations. The authorities cited by the appellant are not in point. The evidence of appellant is contradictory and unconvincing. The cases are virtually unanimous in holding that ". . . a cashier's check may be generally regarded as the substantial equivalent of a certified check in that neither can be countermanded and both circulate in the commercial world as primary obligations of the issuing bank as substitutes for the money represented." (Emphasis added) Scharz v. Twin City State Bank, 441 P2d 897, at 899 (Kan. 1968).

If the respondent had received cash or had cashed the check at the bank after receiving it from Mr. Urry, it is clear that the bank would not be entitled to the monies. See for example, State of Penn. v. Curtiss Natl. Bank of Miami Springs, Fla., 427 F2d 395 (1970), wherein a check was issued to the payees at the request of bank customers. The check was then cashed and the bank sought to recover the funds from the payee. The court stated that "the bank, whether through its own negligence or through fraud practiced upon it by the borrowers, has made an improvident loan. A legal recourse is to seek a judgment against the borrowers and assert its rights in the collateral securing the loan; it has no right to recover the proceeds of the loan from persons who ultimately received them as a result of executed contracts with borrowers." (At page 406)

If this is the case, there is no sound reason for denying the respondent the relief he demands merely because he deposited the check rather than cashing it at the bank.

As the above decision states, the bank should have sought the monies from the bankruptcy receiver and/or Walker Bank, and not from the payee of the check. For these reasons alone the judgment should be sustained.

POINT II

THE RESPONDENT IS A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE OF THE INSTRUMENT AND IS ENTITLED TO AFFIRMATION OF THE JUDGMENT AS A RESULT THEREOF

70A-3-418, U.C.A., 1953, reads as follows:

Except for recovery of bank payments as provided in the chapter on Bank Deposits and Collections (chapter 4) and except for liability for breach of warranty on presentment under the preceding section, payment or acceptance of any instrument is final in favor of a holder in due course, or a person who has in good faith changed his position in reliance on the payment.

Appellant thus rests his entire case on whether or not the respondent was a holder in due course.

70A-3-302, U.C.A., 1953 as amended, defines a holder in due course as follows:

"(1) A holder in due course is a holder who takes the instrument

(a) for value; and

(b) in good faith; and

(c) without notice that it is overdue or has been dishonored or of any defense against or claim to it on the part of any person."

70A-3-303, U.C.A., 1953 as amended, defines taking for value as follows:

"A holder takes the instrument for value

(a) to the extent that the agreed consideration has been performed or that he acquires a security interest in or a lien on the instrument otherwise than by legal process; or

(b) when he takes the instrument in payment of or as security for an antecedent claim against any person whether or not the claim is due; or

(c) when he gives a negotiable instrument for value or makes an irrevocable commitment to a third person.

As to subsection (a) the respondent has performed all of the consideration--it has given \$22,020.80 to Tri-Power in exchange for a cashier's check. This money was in fact collected, turned over to Tri-Power and deposited in Tri-Power's account with appellant.

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